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TASMANIAN INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION

Industrial Relations Act 1984
s29(1) application for hearing of an industrial dispute
  
Jane Gillies
(T14301 of 2015)
  
and
Minister administering the State Service Act 2000
	  
ACTING President WELLS
	HOBART, 28 JULY 2016


  
Promotion without advertising – alleged inappropriate behaviour – bullying – Employment Direction No. 1 – ED1 – industrial matter – industrial matter does not include appointments or promotions – no jurisdiction for part of application – application dismissed in full
DECISION

Introduction

[1] On 20 May 2015, Mrs Jane Gillies (the applicant), applied to the President, pursuant to s29(1) of the Industrial Relations Act 1984 (the IR Act) for a hearing before a Commissioner in respect of an industrial dispute with the Minister administering the State Service Act 2000 (MASSA) (the respondent), relating to the applicant’s mode, terms and conditions of employment.

[2] A number of conciliation conferences were held to discuss the matters giving rise to the dispute.
[3] The applicant requested that the matter proceed to arbitration which occurred on 23 and 24 June 2016 in Hobart.  Mrs Gillies was self-represented.  Mrs Sharyn Haas of the Department of Education, appeared for the respondent.
[4] Mrs Gillies, a Teacher Assistant, initially sought a promotion from her substantive Band 2 classification to a Band 3 classification (due to special and compelling circumstances) in recompense for what she saw as losing her access to a part-time Band 3 Library Technician role at Goodwood Primary School (Goodwood).  Prior to arbitration, Mrs Gillies amended her request of promotion to a Band 3 position, instead she sought a Band 4 classification, together with a placement at a primary school within the suburb boundaries of Rosetta and New Town, but excluding a number of schools within that area.  Mrs Gillies also sought as a remedy:

· acknowledgements from the respondent that a grievance process instigated by her had not demonstrated fairness or equity toward her;

· that a number of employees have treated her inappropriately or bullied her; and

· clarification as to an amount of back pay she had received relating to Library Technician duties.
History
[5] Mrs Gillies holds a substantive Band 2 classification under the Tasmanian State Service Award, in a substantive role of Teacher Assistant.  Mrs Gillies is currently working in a supernumerary administration role at Claremont College.  There is a considerable history to this dispute dating back to 2008.  The relevant matters are following.
[6] Mrs Gillies was made a permanent State Service employee through the moratorium in 2008, at 32.5 hours per fortnight.  Mrs Gillies filed a s50(1)(b) review under the State Service Act 2000 (the SS Act) seeking 44 hours per fortnight.  The then State Service Commissioner Mr Robert Watling, (who had jurisdiction to determine State Service reviews), determined that Mrs Gillies should have been made permanent at 33 hours per fortnight, however he was extremely concerned about the issuing of contracts to Mrs Gillies, which were either non-existent or incorrect.  In response to Commissioner Watling’s concerns, the Department of Education (the Department) made every effort to find Mrs Gillies additional hours of work up to 44 hours per fortnight.
[7] In 2009 Mrs Gillies initiated a further s50(1)(b) review in response to not being allocated 44 hours of work per fortnight for school term 1 in 2009.  Mrs Gillies’ focus then was on the employment of fixed-term employees working hours that she felt should have been allocated to her.  The Department responded with the detailed staffing reasons for allocating hours to a fixed-term employee.  The then Acting State Service Commissioner (Mr Iain Frawley), accepted the staffing approach of the Department and recommended a review in term 2 to see if there were any additional hours available for Mrs Gillies.  Further conferences and meetings were held in 2010 and 2011 trying to resolve the matters.

[8] In late 2011 Commissioner Frawley issued a Record of Outcome for the second review matter which provided at paragraph [14]:
“I advised the applicant on 12 November 2011 that she has been placed in a school of her choice and for the full hours (44) she had been seeking since lodging her application.  I indicated that it was my understanding that whilst the Principal of Goodwood also held responsibility for Timsbury her responsibilities would only relate to Goodwood and would be confined to primary school children.  My advice was that there was no expectation that Goodwood would close.  On this basis I believed her issues to be resolved.”

[9] The respondent understood Commissioner Frawley’s reference of “My advice was that there was no expectation that Goodwood would close”, indicated an expectation held by him that due to Mrs Gillies’ past history of workplace difficulties at Claremont Primary School, Mrs Gillies would only be moved from Goodwood in exceptional circumstances.
[10] Mrs Gillies was moved to Goodwood, a school of her choice, to undertake her Teacher Assistant duties, working approximately 34 hours per fortnight at Band 2 classification.  The then Principal of Goodwood allocated a further 10 hours per fortnight to Mrs Gillies working as a Library Technician.  A Library Technician role carries a Band 3 classification.  However, Mrs Gillies was paid at a Band 2 classification for all hours worked.
[11] On 2 December 2013 Mrs Gillies lodged an application as to an industrial dispute with this Commission.  This application, known as T14124 of 2013 (T14124), related to a proposal by Goodwood Primary School’s Principal at the time, Ms Bonnie Jeffrey, to substantially reduce Mrs Gillies working hours.
[12] The raising of this dispute prompted the respondent to identify that Mrs Gillies had been underpaid for the work she had undertaken as a Library Technician and back pay was calculated and paid to Mrs Gillies.  Further, a recommendation setting out Mrs Gillies work history and circumstances was issued by this Commission to Mr Frank Ogle, Director of the State Service Management Office (SSMO), on 8 May 2014 suggesting that, having regard to the content of Employment Direction No. 1 ‘Employment in the Tasmanian State Service’ and the special and compelling circumstances which appeared to exist, Mrs Gillies be promoted without advertising to a Band 3 Library Technician position for those hours of her employment which involved Library Technician duties.
[13] Following the issuing of the recommendation by the Commission, Mr Ogle declined to accept the Commission’s recommendation.  Mr Ogle met with Ms Haas and Mr Mark Watson of the Department and agreed to support a closed selection process for the Library Technician role at Goodwood, which involved the role being open only to existing employees of the Department.  Mrs Gillies was aggrieved by this outcome and advised she would not apply for the position.

[14] Following a number of conciliation conferences in matter T14124, Mrs Gillies alleged bullying and harassment at Goodwood and advised she could not return to Goodwood.  The respondent agreed to relocate Mrs Gillies in a supernumerary position until they could find her a Teacher Assistant role within the geographical boundaries nominated by her.

[15] Mrs Gillies has been working in a supernumerary administration role at Claremont College for approximately the last 18 months and sought a substantive role at Claremont College or a role at a primary school on the western shore of Hobart between the suburbs of Rosetta and New Town.  This list of schools excluded a number of schools within that area.  The lack of success in the identification of a substantive role for Mrs Gillies gave rise to this current application before the Commission, together with her perceived loss of a Band 3 role.
Evidence

[16] Witness evidence for the applicant was provided by:
· Mrs Jane Linda Gillies,
 the applicant in this matter

· Mr John Bernard Gillies,
 the applicant’s husband.

[17] Witness evidence for the respondent was provided by:
· Ms Sharyn Jane Haas,
 Senior Workplace Relations Consultant, Department of Education

· Ms Bonnie Charmaine Jeffrey,
 former Principal of Goodwood, Department of Education
· Ms Debby Anne Crespan,
 Regional Human Resource Manager, Department of Education

· Mr Paul Mazengarb,
 former Workplace Relations Manager, Department of Education
· Ms Judy Travers,
 General Manager, Learning Services Southern Region, Department of Education.

[18] Ms Travers was not available for cross-examination and as a result, the respondent did not seek to tender her witness statement.  Mrs Gillies requested that Ms Travers’ statement be tendered into evidence.  The Commission cautioned Mrs Gillies, that should the statement be tendered into evidence it’s content would stand and there was no ability for her to test that evidence.  Mrs Gillies confirmed her understanding of the caution and pressed that the statement be tendered into evidence as she wished to rely on it.  Accordingly the respondent tendered the witness statement of Ms Travers.

[19] Mrs Gillies, in her evidence, alleged she was the subject of inappropriate behaviours and actions undertaken by co-workers at Goodwood and that an investigation undertaken by Ms Linda Eaton of the Department was flawed and iniquitous.  I now turn to deal with each matter as put by Mrs Gillies.
[20] Where the evidence of Mrs Gillies conflicts with others, I prefer the evidence of the respondent’s witnesses.  Whilst I took all witnesses to have believed in the truth of their evidence presented, I found Mrs Gillies’ evidence on occasion to be unsatisfactory by way of it being exaggerated and of an argumentative nature.  On occasion Mrs Gillies misrepresented or misinterpreted matters set out in documentation.
[21] To the extent that Mrs Gillies provided hearsay evidence of a conversation between Ms Haas and Mrs Gillies’ life coach, Ms Caroline Dean, I have given no weight to it given that Ms Haas denied such a conversation took place and the hearsay nature of that evidence.
Alleged behaviour of Bonnie Jeffrey

[22] As to the proposal by Ms Jeffrey to reduce the working hours of Mrs Gillies at Goodwood for the 2014 academic year, Mrs Gillies’ evidence was that Ms Jeffrey would have known she was not to be moved from Goodwood as she had held discussions with an employee of the Department, who was aware of the previous outcome from the State Service Commissioner.  Ms Jeffrey denied any knowledge about Mrs Gillies’ previous matters before the State Service Commissioner, stating that the decision to reduce Mrs Gillies’ hours came from discussions with her School Business Managers and the need to reduce non-teaching hours at Goodwood.

[23] Whilst Mrs Gillies’ evidence was that there was an increase in high needs children at Goodwood for the 2014 school year,
  Ms Jeffrey stated there was no increase in high needs students at Goodwood in 2014
 as some new students commenced in 2014 and some year six students from the 2013 year finished.

[24] Mrs Gillies stated that Ms Jeffrey had failed to follow the Department’s Teacher Assistant Transfer policy when proposing to reduce Mrs Gillies’ work hours.  Mrs Gillies did not specify the exact nature of the policy breach.  Ms Jeffrey denied any breach of policy and stated that a proposal had been made to reduce Mrs Gillies’ work hours, consultation was then to follow and this was in accordance with departmental policy.

[25] Mrs Gillies stated that during 2014 she was treated differently to other Teacher Assistants at Goodwood due to Ms Jeffrey requiring her to complete daily reporting sheets that provided feedback on a student she was working with.  It was said that no other Teacher Assistant who worked with that particular student was required to complete feedback sheets.

[26] An altercation occurred between Mrs Gillies and Ms Jeffrey in August 2014 in Ms Jeffrey’s office.  They were discussing the timely completion of the feedback sheets.  Mrs Gillies stated that Ms Jeffrey intimidated her when she moved one hand into another in a chopping motion whilst directing her to complete the feedback forms.  Ms Jeffrey confirmed the altercation took place and that she had to speak to Mrs Gillies about her failure to complete the daily feedback sheets in a timely manner.  However, Ms Jeffrey denied making the chopping hand gesture as described by Mrs Gillies.  Ms Jeffrey confirmed that Mrs Gillies was upset on that day and that Mrs Gillies advised her that she was leaving the workplace.

[27] Mrs Gillies said that the receipt of after-hours emails from Ms Jeffrey was inappropriate and caused her stress and affected her family life, although she did not provide specific examples.
  It was Ms Jeffrey’s evidence that it was common for her to send emails to staff after hours, but she did not expect staff to read or answer that correspondence outside of work hours.

[28] Mrs Gillies said that Ms Jeffrey failed to provide her with a safe and inclusive workplace
 and also failed to discuss the issue of mediation between Mrs Gillies and three other Teacher Assistants, even though Ms Jeffrey had undertaken to do so before the Tasmanian Industrial Commission.
  Mr Gillies stated that Ms Jeffrey made little effort to rectify a situation within Goodwood where a number of Teacher Assistants would not talk to Mrs Gillies.

[29] Ms Jeffrey disputed that she had targeted Mrs Gillies in any way and stated that she always followed up on issues Mrs Gillies had raised about other staff behaviour.  It was Ms Jeffrey’s evidence that she undertook the actions she was responsible for, following any dispute conferences before this Commission.
[30] During 2014 Mrs Gillies was required to attend meetings with Mrs Jeffrey relating to communication within the workplace and to deal with workplace issues, which she said made her feel over-scrutinised and micro-managed.  Mrs Gillies stated that at a meeting on 19 February 2014 – attended by herself, her husband, Ms Jeffrey and Mr Paul Mazengarb, Manager of Industrial Relations with the Department of Education – her husband had to take action to dissuade the Department from instigating disciplinary action against Mrs Gillies, regarding Mrs Gillies’ inaction to advise she was not attending for work.  Mrs Gillies was concerned that Ms Jeffrey had deliberately not advised Mr Mazengarb of correspondence Mrs Gillies had sent, so as to paint her in a poor light.
[31] Mrs Gillies said she was not provided with an agenda for the meeting.  Mr Gillies’ evidence was that an agenda was provided at the commencement of the meeting.
  Ms Jeffrey stated that she provided an agenda for the meeting on 19 February 2014 as was her practice for every meeting she held.

[32] Mrs Gillies asserted that Ms Jeffrey would have known that Mrs Gillies was being underpaid for the Library Technician work as Ms Jeffrey would be aware the two positions were classified at different classification bands within the Award.
  Ms Jeffrey stated that it was her understanding that both positions were Band 2 classified and she did not become aware of differing classification levels until after Mrs Gillies’ application to the Commission (T14124) was referred to the departmental industrial relations specialists.

[33] Subsequent to leaving Goodwood, Mrs Gillies continued to receive emails from Ms Jeffrey as to staffing arrangements for Goodwood.  This appeared to occur at the commencement of each new school term.  Mrs Gillies said the emails were sent to all staff at Goodwood, that the emails caused her distress and it was unreasonable for Ms Jeffrey to email her in this way.  Mrs Gillies said she complained about the emails and they stopped.

[34] It was the evidence of Ms Crespan that there were technical difficulties that arose at the end of each, and beginning of each, school term where, due to Mrs Gillies’ substantive position still being recorded as Goodwood (as she was currently working in a supernumerary position) the payroll system would place her against her substantive position at Goodwood.  Ms Crespan said this meant that at the commencement of each term, Mrs Gillies’ details would automatically revert to her substantive workplace and her name would then be inserted into the group email addresses for Goodwood staff.  Ms Crespan said this was why the emails were only received by Ms Gillies at the beginning of a school term.  Ms Crespan said that when Mrs Gillies complained about receiving the emails, she actioned a review and it took some time for departmental staff to research the system and to get to the bottom of the technical problem.  The matter was rectified by removing any reference to Mrs Gillies’ substantive position on the computer system.

Alleged behaviour of Paul Mazengarb
[35] Mrs Gillies’ and Mr Gillies’ evidence was that at the meeting of 19 February 2014, as described at paragraph [30], Mr Mazengarb intended to instigate unreasonable disciplinary action against Mrs Gillies for failing to advise Ms Jeffrey that she would be present at work, in accordance with departmental guidelines.

[36] Mr Gillies stated that Mr Mazengarb confirmed disciplinary action was to occur against Mrs Gillies; that Mr Mazengarb wasn’t appraised of all of the facts; and that due Mr Mazengarb’s lack of knowledge about the matter, the action to instigate discipline was unreasonable.  Mr Gillies asked questions during the meeting and said that the answers to those questions had explained that Mrs Gillies had provided advice to Ms Jeffrey that she would not be present for work.  He said that Mr Mazengarb had accepted that information and put the matter down to a miscommunication.

[37] Mr Mazengarb’s evidence was that he was present at the meeting to ensure the meeting ran in accordance with Department procedures and not to undertake disciplinary action.
  He did, however, confirm during the meeting that disciplinary action against Mrs Gillies could have been an option if it were determined that she had not notified the school of her non-attendance at work.

Alleged behaviour of Debby Crespan
[38] Mrs Gillies stated that Ms Crespan referred to her as being disabled in a statement provided by Ms Crespan to Ms Eaton, during the Grievance Investigation.  In her witness statement Mrs Gillies referred to Ms Crespan’s statement as an “outright lie”.
  Mrs Gillies also stated that she was harassed by Ms Crespan following her departure from Goodwood as Ms Crespan would unreasonably email her about Library Technician duties and issues at Goodwood.
[39] Ms Crespan provided evidence of her involvement in Mrs Gillies’ previous State Service Commission review matters in 2008 and 2009 and her involvement in this Commission’s matter of T14124.
  Ms Crespan stated that due to Mrs Gillies not wanting to return to Goodwood, which was supported by the Department, there was no official handover of the Library Technician duties to another employee,
 which gave rise to a number of queries being raised by staff at Goodwood and the book company Schoolastic Books.  Ms Crespan said that she only emailed Ms Gillies about work queries and when Mrs Gillies advised her that she did not wish to receive any further email correspondence from her, she did not email her again.
  Ms Crespan disputed that the email contact was unnecessary and harassing.
[40] Ms Crespan denied ever calling Mrs Gillies disabled.  Ms Crespan confirmed that in her statement to the Grievance Investigation, she described discussions that occurred at a State Service Commission conference where Mrs Gillies stated she could not work at Rose Bay High School as “I have a disability”.
  Ms Crespan said she personally did not refer to Mrs Gillies as being disabled.
[41] Mrs Gillies provided extracts from an email dated 15 June 2010,
 subsequent to the State Service Commission conference, which she stated was evidence that she never referred to herself as being disabled.
Alleged behaviour of Judy Travers

[42] Mrs Gillies stated that on 18 August 2014 Ms Travers, General Manager of Learning Services Southern Region, wrote an intimidating letter alleging non-compliance with work directives relating to the completion of daily feedback sheets.
  Mrs Gillies stated that she felt threatened by the letter and that Ms Travers was bullying her because she had lodged the previous application (T14124) with the Commission.
  Mrs Gillies said that she felt Ms Travers was supporting Ms Jeffrey’s version of events and it was not correct for Ms Travers to have concluded that Mrs Gillies was not completing the feedback sheets.
[43] The letter sent by Ms Travers is as follows:

“Dear Ms Gillies

I refer to your email to Ms Bonnie Jeffrey (Principal), dated 13 August 2014, in response to a written direction that Ms Jeffrey issued to you the same day.

It is pleasing to note that you have agreed to comply with the written direction issued to you and that you will ensure your daily feedback is provided to the classroom teacher before the end of the school day.  However, I am extremely concerned with reports that prior to this written direction you had refused to complete the task on a daily basis and you left the school, prior to the completion of your scheduled duties with [T], when Ms Jeffrey raised this with you again on 13 August 2014.

I understand that both Ms Jeffrey and Mr Brodie Phillips (Acting Principal Term 2) have raised the importance of the daily feedback task with you and Ms Jeffrey met all of the Teacher Assistants who work with [T], including you, to discuss the matter in more detail.  Regardless of this communication, I would expect that all Teacher Assistants, supporting students with special needs, would appreciate the importance of the various processes undertaken to support behaviour management strategies and know that these actions align with students’ Individual Education Plans.
You note in your email that the crucial incident did not involve you and I want to clarify that no-one has stated that this is the case.  I understand you were working with [T] the morning of the critical incident and this highlights that you may have observed behaviours that could have enabled monitoring the following day.  Furthermore, I want to advise you that Ms Jeffrey referred the 2012 incident with [T] to Learning Services and a full risk assessment was undertaken at this time.  I trust you appreciate that the assessment process is an ongoing process and that you understand the importance of your contribution to this process.

In regard to your communication request, I must advise you that it will not be feasible for all communication with you to be through email or via Ms Caroline Dean (Personal Development Coach).  Duty of care and student safety must come first and as such it is likely that there will be times when verbal communication is necessary and required.  You are expected to actively engage in discussions and it’s hoped that the coaching sessions with Ms Dean will assist you to participate in a positive manner.  Where possible, contact will be made with you during work hours however this is not always practical.  You are advised that there is no expectation for you to respond to contact outside of your normal hours.

In closing, you are advised that it is the Department of Education’s expectation that you will comply with reasonable directions given to you by Ms Jeffrey, your direct line manager.  I also advise that any reports of non-compliance may be issued to the Secretary for consideration of an investigation as to whether there has been a breach of Section 9(6) of the State Service Act 2000, which states:

“An employee must comply with any standing orders made under Section 34(2) and with any lawful and reasonable direction given by a person having authority to give the direction”.

I trust this matter is now finalised and I wish you well for the remainder of Term 3.

Should you have any queries please contact Ms Jeffrey in the first instance.

Yours sincerely

Judy Travers

General Manager, Learning Services (South)”

[44] The evidence of Ms Travers’ provides that the intention of the letter was not to intimidate or threaten Mrs Gillies, but to provide her with a reminder of her obligations as an employee and her conduct and responsibilities.

Alleged behaviour of other Teacher Assistants

[45] Mrs Gillies made allegations Ms Angela Brazendale, Ms Diane Hinds and Ms Susie Duffy, Teacher Assistants at Goodwood, which were investigated by the Department.  Mrs Gillies said these co-workers behaved inappropriately towards her by ignoring her, not speaking to her, refusing to be involved in mediation with her and not providing her with assistance when dealing with a high needs student.

[46] The respondent did not lead any witness evidence from the individual Teacher Assistants named, although the statements of Ms Hinds and Ms Duffy, as provided in the Grievance Investigation, were in evidence.

[47] Ms Jeffrey’s evidence was that whilst some employees at Goodwood did not have strong working relationships with Mrs Gillies, Ms Jeffrey observed those staff being respectful in their behaviour toward Mrs Gillies.

The investigation by the Department of Education
[48] Mrs Gillies was aggrieved by the outcome of an investigation undertaken by Ms Linda Eaton, an employee of the Department.  It was Mrs Gillies’ evidence that the Grievance Investigation Report, dated 15 October 2015
 did not demonstrate fairness or equality in its outcomes or recommendations.
  Mrs Gillies said Ms Eaton’s statement in the report that the allegations made were based on Mrs Gillies’ perceptions was unacceptable and that the report was biased, contradictory and contained untruthful statements.  However, Mrs Gillies did not expand on these statements.

[49] The respondent did not lead evidence in relation to the Grievance Investigation Report, although a full copy of the report was in evidence.

Alleged behaviour and lack of assistance from Sharyn Haas as to promotion without advertising

[50] Mrs Gillies’ evidence was that as a result of Ms Haas, the industrial relations consultant with carriage of the dispute in matter T14124, not sending a letter of support for the recommendation made by this Commission to Mr Ogle, he did not agree to promote Mrs Gillies without advertising.
  Mrs Gillies said her position with the State Service suffered detriment because of Ms Haas’ inaction.

[51] Ms Haas’ evidence provided that she did not send the letter to Mr Ogle as agreed before the Commission because prior to her sending it, Mr Ogle had already received the recommendation from the Commission and had contacted the Department seeking a meeting to discuss the matter.
  Ms Haas stated that Mr Ogle did not support the recommendation as there were Band 3 employees within the Department who, at the time, were considered surplus to requirement and who required placing into Band 3 positions, such as the Library Technician position at Goodwood.

[52] It was Ms Haas’ evidence that Mr Ogle would not have changed his mind had he received a letter from the Department,
 as Mr Ogle considered that Mrs Gillies’ circumstances “were not special and compelling enough for him to consider promoting without advertising.”

[53] Ms Haas said that Mr Ogle agreed to the Department undertaking a closed selection process for the Library Technician hours at Goodwood, which meant that only employees of the Department would be eligible to apply, thereby allowing the position to go to a selection process and also reducing the number of employees who could apply for the position.

[54] Mrs Gillies’ evidence was that there were a number of inaccuracies in correspondence provided by Mr Ogle to Mr Colin Pettit,
 the Secretary of the Department, and this had disadvantaged her when Mr Ogle made the decision not to accept the Commission recommendation.  Ms Haas said in evidence that she was confident Mr Ogle had accurate information as to Mrs Gillies’ employment circumstances.

[55] As to the underpayment of wages when Mrs Gillies was undertaking Library Technician duties, it was Ms Haas’ evidence that as soon as she became aware that Mrs Gillies had been underpaid, arrangements were made to back pay her any monies owed.  Ms Haas advised that back pay was based on the hours provided by Mrs Gillies.

[56] Mrs Gillies’ evidence was that Ms Haas inappropriately sought to meet with her about her application to this Commission in matter T14124, at the conclusion of the 2013 school year.  Mrs Gillies stated that it was unreasonable that Ms Haas did not arrange a meeting prior to the end of the school year and that there were 17 days between the lodgement of her application with the Commission and the date proposed by Ms Haas to meet to discuss the application.  It was Ms Haas’ evidence that she wrote to Mrs Gillies at the first opportunity to seek a meeting and that when she was advised that the proposed date was not acceptable, she advised Mrs Gillies in writing that she was available to meet at a time convenient to Mrs Gillies.

Permanent placement

[57] It was Mrs Gillies’ evidence that since working at Claremont College, she had observed that there were enough hours of work at that workplace for her to be placed permanently at that location.
  However, the Department had refused to provide her with a permanent placement at that workplace.
  Ms Crespan’s evidence was that Claremont College are currently over quote with administration staff and no vacancy had been advised to Learning Services South.

[58] Ms Crespan stated that Mrs Gillies had indicated to her that she preferred an administration role, but that Mrs Gillies had changed the parameters of where she was prepared to accept a permanent position, that now being only at Claremont College or a primary school within the suburbs of Rosetta and New Town, (but excluding four schools within that area).  Ms Crespan said in effect, this left only Rosetta Primary, Bowen Road Primary, New Town Primary or Lenah Valley Primary, and no suitable positions had become available at those schools.

Submissions
The applicant

[59] As Mrs Gillies was self-represented, her written documentation was taken in as evidence to the extent that was possible.  Additional argument contained within that written material was taken as submissions.  Mrs Gillies also provided oral opening and closing submissions.

[60] It was submitted by Mrs Gillies that:
· People have been ‘named’ who have bullied, harassed, threatened and failed in their duty of care toward her in the workplace.

· behaviour she experienced included removal of permanent hours at Goodwood (which was a breach of an State Service Commission ruling); requests for her to work in a Band 3 position whilst only paying Band 2 wages; attempted disciplinary action; being treated differently; being scrutinised by way of weekly and fortnightly meetings; removal of duties; loss of career opportunities; inaccurate findings and lack of recommendations from a grievance process; threatening correspondence; being set up to fail; excessive out of hours communications; loss of her Band 3 position as a Library technician; and being referred to a disabled.
[61] Mrs Gillies asserted that she was denied redeployment, and has since not been allocated to a permanent position.  It was said this had created a situation of isolation and the uncertainty had caused anxiety and stress for her and her family.
[62] In closing submissions, Mrs Gillies submitted that it was unclear to her whether she had received the correct amount of back pay for the Library Technician work she had carried out.

[63] Mrs Gillies submitted that it was incorrect of Ms Haas to have stated that a letter of support from the Department to Mr Ogle would not have made any difference, as that letter could have assisted in Mr Ogle coming to a different decision.

[64] It was submitted by Mrs Gillies that her evidence established that she had never referred to herself as disabled and therefore Ms Crespan owed her an apology for saying that she had so referred to herself.
[65] Mrs Gillies opined that there were enough administration hours of work at Claremont College for her to be placed permanently at that location and that despite seeking the assistance of Ms Crespan to be permanently placed at Claremont College, this had been unreasonably refused.

[66] Mrs Gillies referred to documentation
 provided by her to establish that she had provided daily feedback forms in contrast to Ms Jeffrey’s evidence that she had not provided those forms.
[67] Mrs Gillies stated she was seeking a Band 3 or Band 4 permanent position at either Claremont College, Rosetta Primary, Bowen Road Primary, New Town Primary or Lenah Valley Primary;
 an apology from Ms Crespan; acknowledgement that the Grievance Investigation report was flawed; acknowledgement that the Principal and staff at Goodwood treated her inappropriately; that the letter sent by Ms Travers was unfounded; that Ms Crespan’s behaviour was harassing and inappropriate; and acknowledgement that Ms Haas failed to provide the letter of support to the Director of SSMO relating to the request for promotion without advertising.

The respondent

[68] Ms Haas on behalf of the respondent provided a written outline of submissions
 and oral closing submissions.
[69] The respondent argued that Ms Gillies had never been appointed to a Band 3 classified position in the State Service and therefore she cannot simply be placed permanently in such a role, having regard to the SS Act and Employment Direction No. 1.  It was said that Mr Ogle, following a meeting with departmental staff, was not willing to accede to the Commission’s recommendation as Band 3 employees had already been placed on the surplus to requirements list and needed placement at that Band level.

[70] Ms Haas submitted that Mr Ogle determined that the Library Technician position at Goodwood would be exempt from the normal central vacancy control with approval being given for the position to be advertised within the Department by way of an expression of interest, and that this was explained to Mrs Gillies at the conciliation conference held on 2 September 2014 in matter T14124.  Ms Haas submitted that Mrs Gillies advised she was not interested in applying for the position and sought a permanent position at an alternate work location.

[71] As to the other matters raised by Mrs Gillies, Ms Haas submitted it is clear on the evidence that:

· The meeting of 19 February 2014 was not held to initiate disciplinary action;
· Ms Crespan did not refer to Mrs Gillies as disabled, rather she referred to a discussion in which Mrs Gillies stated “I have a disability”;
· Ms Crespan was at all times respectful in her dealings with Mrs Gillies and it was Ms Crespan’s job to follow up on queries provided to her by staff at Goodwood, subsequent to Mrs Gillies leaving Goodwood;
· Given the limited number of schools that Mrs Gilles was prepared to work at, it was reasonable that a permanent position was yet to be found;
· Mrs Gillies never owned a Band 3 position through a merit selection process and therefore there was no Band 3 position for her to regain;
· When Mrs Gillies was provided the opportunity to apply for the position on merit, she declined and requested a move to another school;
· Ms Haas did not provide the letter of support for the Commission recommendation, due to Mr Ogle having received the recommendation and having contacted the department expressing concern;
· Whilst Mrs Gillies asserted that it would be impossible for her to win a Band 3 position, no evidence had been presented to support that position;

· A number of emails had been sent by Ms Jeffrey to Mrs Gillies outside of school hours, but there was no direction or expectation that these emails be read after hours;

· Ms Jeffrey, as Principal of Goodwood, was reasonable in her behaviour at all times, including discussing Mrs Gillies’ concerns with the three Teacher Assistants at Goodwood; and

· The letter from Ms Travers to Mrs Gillies was not threatening.
[72] Ms Haas submitted that the Department stands by its grievance procedure and relies on the documentation provided in this matter.
Findings
[73] Having regard to the circumstances of this dispute and the remedy sought by Mrs Gillies, I am required to determine whether certain behaviour occurred and if so, how that behaviour should be remedied, and further, in all the circumstances, consider whether Mrs Gillies request for a permanent placement in a Band 3 or Band 4 role is a remedy available.
[74] I firstly deal with the matters relating to individual behaviours as alleged by Mrs Gillies.

Alleged behaviour of Bonnie Jeffrey

[75] The behaviours of Ms Jeffrey as described by Mrs Gillies are not made out, when regard is had to all the evidence.  I accept that there was a requirement for all Teacher Assistants, in the same circumstances as Mrs Gillies, to complete daily feedback sheets.  Mrs Gillies was not treated differently and it was appropriate for the Principal, Ms Jeffrey, to require timely completion of feedback sheets.  Whilst Mrs Gillies sought to rely on documentation
 filed for the arbitration as proving she had completed the daily feedback forms as requested, the documentation presented shows the forms were completed, but not when that occurred or when they were submitted.  The documentation does not establish what Mrs Gillies asserted.  I accept the evidence of Ms Jeffrey that Mrs Gillies did not complete the forms daily prior to leaving school.

[76] I am satisfied that Ms Jeffrey’s evidence established she did follow up and action concerns raised by Mrs Gillies in the workplace.  I am satisfied that Ms Jeffrey’s conduct, as a Principal, was appropriate having regard to operational requirements.

[77] Likewise I am satisfied with the explanation of Ms Crespan as to why Mrs Gillies received group Goodwood staff emails from Ms Jeffrey at the commencement of each school term.  Ms Jeffrey did not act inappropriately in sending those emails which were received by Mrs Gillies, due to a technical payroll system issue.

[78] I accept the evidence of Ms Jeffrey that she was unaware of the difference in classification between the Teacher Assistant role and the Library Technician role.  Whilst Mrs Gillies sought to rely on an email she sent to Ms Jeffrey on 28 August 2013 as evidence that Ms Jeffrey would have known from that point that the Library Technician role was at a higher classification, I do not accept this.  The email stated “I would like to be formally acknowledged for the role of Library Technician…”.
  The email did not set out to Ms Jeffrey that the Library Technician role was at a higher classification.

[79] I am of the view that any changes to Mrs Gillies’ duties at Goodwood during 2014, and implemented by Ms Jeffrey, (which included duties in the Kindergarten, removal of school banking and Schoolastic Book orders, notice board displays and administrative support)
 were implemented for operational and budgetary reasons and were appropriate actions of a Principal.

Alleged behaviour of Paul Mazengarb
[80] It is not unusual for industrial relations consultants to be present in meetings between management and employees of a Department.  Mr Mazengarb’s appearance at the meeting of 19 February 2014 and subsequent meetings, whilst perhaps initially surprising for Mrs Gillies, does not give me any cause for concern.

[81] Whilst there was a considerable amount of evidence led by Mrs Gillies and her husband in relation to what they perceived as an aborted attempt to take disciplinary action against Mrs Gillies, this is not supported by the facts.  The evidence established that Mr Mazengarb mentioned possible disciplinary action.  Even if disciplinary action was contemplated or impending, Mr Mazengarb accepted at the meeting that Mrs Gillies had communicated her non-attendance at work, put the matter down to a miscommunication, and no further action was taken or discussion entered into.  This does not evidence unreasonableness on the part of Mr Mazengarb or Ms Jeffrey.
[82] I am satisfied that Ms Jeffrey did not deliberately misrepresent the circumstances of communications by Mrs Gillies and did not deliberately create a circumstance which painted Mrs Gillies in a poor light.  I am of the view that neither Ms Jeffrey nor Mr Mazengarb acted unreasonably at the meeting of 19 February 2014 and that an agenda was provided prior to the commencement of discussions.  Whilst it would be considered best practice to provide an agenda to Mrs Gillies well prior to the meeting, it is clear there was no detriment suffered by Mrs Gillies by her receiving the agenda at the commencement of the meeting.

[83] I detect no error on the part of Ms Jeffrey under the Teacher Assistant Transfer policy that would indicate a breach of that policy, as the reduction of Mrs Gillies hours at the time was only a proposal which was subsequently withdrawn when the previous determination of the State Service Commissioner became known to Ms Jeffrey.

Alleged behaviour of Debby Crespan
[84] Mrs Gillies’ referral to the email of 15 June 2010 does not refute the evidence of Ms Crespan, as it does not set out the discussions as occurred at the State Service Commission in any detail.  I am satisfied that the exchange at the conference took place as described by Ms Crespan and that Ms Crespan’s referral to it in her statement to the Grievance Investigation was not inappropriate, rather it merely set out the historical facts of the matter.

[85] I am satisfied with the evidence provided by Ms Crespan
 as to the circumstances and her need to contact Mrs Gillies as to operational matters.  I do not consider that Ms Crespan’s actions in contacting Mrs Gillies about operational queries were harassing or unreasonable in any way.

Alleged behaviour of Judy Travers

[86] Having considered the content of Ms Travers letter,
 I cannot accept Mrs Gillies’ construction that the letter was intimidating or threatening.  I am of the view that a reasonable person would have considered the letter to be written in a cordial and informative manner, clearly explaining the importance of providing timely daily information on a student.  Further, I considered it appropriate for Ms Travers to remind the recipient that they have a serious obligation to comply with a reasonable work direction and that a failure to do so may bring with it serious implications.  Indeed, to not advise Mrs Gillies of that fact would have been a failing of Ms Travers’ duties as the General Manager.

[87] I am satisfied Ms Travers’ correspondence to Mrs Gillies was appropriate in all the circumstances.

Alleged behaviour of other Teacher Assistants

[88] I will deal with the evidence as to these matters jointly with the issues involving the Grievance Investigation Report below.

The investigation by the Department of Education
[89] I have carefully considered the Grievance Investigation report prepared by the Department (including statements made by those persons named) and the response provided by Mrs Gillies to that report.  Whilst I am of the view that the findings within the report could have been more extensive, I found the report to be reliable in all respects, with the exception of the findings relating to Ms Brazendale.  The report’s findings included that there was no basis for finding inappropriate behaviour on the part of the three Teacher Assistants.
[90] The report clearly indicates that Ms Brazendale did not provide any response to three allegations made against her by Mrs Gillies.  The findings made by Ms Eaton in the report state that “on the balance of probabilities” the allegations made are unable to be substantiated as Mrs Gillies did not provide any evidence to support her allegations.

[91] I cannot accept the proposition that a further evidentiary burden be placed on the complainant (Mrs Gillies) in order to prove the allegations against Ms Brazendale, in a situation where the person named has chosen not to provide a response.  As such the evidence contained within the report does not support the findings made, as they relate to the allegations against Ms Brazendale.

[92] However, reading the Grievance Investigation report as a whole, there is no basis whatsoever to support the position of Mrs Gillies that the report was biased and unfair.

Alleged behaviour and lack of assistance from Sharyn Haas as to promotion without advertising

[93] Whilst it was a regrettable circumstance that the SSMO were unable to accept the recommendation of this Commission in 2014, a recommendation is not a binding determination.  It is a document in the nature of advice, a proposal or suggestion if you will, and there was no obligation on Mr Ogle to receive it.  The eventual outcome from discussions between Mr Ogle, Ms Haas and Mr Watson was that Mrs Gillies would have to undertake a merit selection process for the Library Technician hours; something that should have occurred at the time Ms Gillies was first offered those hours by the then Principal of Goodwood.

[94] I accept Ms Haas’ evidence that as Mr Ogle had identified surplus Band 3 employees within the Department at that time, there was nothing that she or other members of the department were able to do to have Mr Ogle accept the Commission’s recommendation.  I am satisfied Ms Haas acted appropriately in all the circumstances.

[95] I can find nothing unreasonable in Ms Haas’ request for a meeting with Mrs Gillies on 19 December 2013.  Ms Haas’ oral evidence was that she thought it would be preferable to deal with the matter as soon as possible so Mrs Gillies could have certainty as to her work hours, prior to the end of the year.  I see this as not only a reasonable but a commendable position for Ms Haas to have taken.

[96] I turn now to consider the issue of Mrs Gillies’ permanent placement as a Band 3 or Band 4 classification.
Permanent placement

[97] State Service Principles contained within s7 of the SS Act, relevantly provides:

“7. State Service Principles

(1) The State Service Principles are as follows:

(a) the State Service is apolitical, performing its functions in an impartial, ethical and professional manner;

(b) the State Service is a public service in which employment decisions are based on merit…

(2) For the purposes of subsection (1)(b), a decision relating to appointment or promotion is based on merit if – 

(a) an assessment is made of the relative suitability of the candidates for the duties; and

(b) the assessment is based on the relationship between the candidates’ work-related qualities and the work-related qualities genuinely required for the duties; and

(c) the assessment focuses on the relative capacity of the candidates to achieve outcomes related to the duties; and

(d) the assessment is the primary consideration in making the decision.”
[98] It is clear on the evidence that Mrs Gillies had not been appointed to a Band 3 role in the circumstances as required by the SS Act as she has not undertaken a selection process for the position of Library Technician at Goodwood.

[99] This was, of course, the reason for the parties agreeing to submit the recommendation from this Commission to Mr Ogle in matter T14124, requesting the promotion without advertising.
[100] This application had been made by Mrs Gillies under s29(1) of the IR Act.  The IR Act sets out the jurisdiction of the Commission and the powers that can be exercised by a Commissioner.  Division 4 – Hearings for settling disputes of the IR Act sets out the dispute settling powers of the Commission.  Section 29(1) provides:

“29. Hearings for settling disputes

(1) An organization, employer, employee or the Minister may apply to the President for a hearing before a Commissioner in respect of an industrial dispute.” (my emphasis)

[101] Under s3(1) of the IR Act, definitions are provided for those important references within that Act.  Relevantly for this matter, I set out the interpretation of “industrial dispute” and “industrial matter”:

“industrial dispute means a dispute in relation to an industrial matter – [my emphasis]
(a) that has arisen; or

(b) that is likely to arise or is threatened or impending;

Industrial matter means any matter pertaining to the relations of employers and employees and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, includes – 

(a) a matter relating to – 

(i) the mode, terms and conditions of employment; or

(ii) the termination of employment of an employee or former employee; or

(iii) the reinstatement or re-employment of an employee or a former employee who has been unfairly dismissed; or

(iv) the payment of compensation to an employee or a former employee if the Commission determines that reinstatement or re-employment is impracticable; or

(v) severance pay for an employee or a former employee whose employment is to be, or has been, terminated as a result of redundancy; or

(vi) a dispute under the Long Service Leave Act 1976 or the Long Service Leave (State Employees) Act 1994 relating to an entitlement to long service leave, or payment instead of any such leave, or the rate of ordinary pay at which any such leave or payment is to be paid in respect of an employee or former employee; or

(b) a breach or an award of registered agreement – 

but does not include a matter relating to – [my emphasis]
(c) the opening and closing hours of an employer’s business premises;

(d) ………..

(e) compensation payable to employees in respect of injuries of diseases suffered in the course of their employment;

(ea) …………

(f) the preferential employment or non-employment of a particular person or class of persons who are or are not members of an organization;

(g) a bonus payment made at the discretion of an employer;

(h) the insurance of employees; or

(i) appointments, or promotions, other than in respect of the qualifications required for advancement; [my emphasis]
(j) …………”

[102] The application as it relates to a promotion of Mrs Gillies to a Band 3 or Band 4 position is not capable of interpretation as an “industrial matter” and therefore is unable to constitute an industrial dispute under s29(1) the Act.  I am satisfied therefore that that part of the application is beyond the jurisdiction of the Commission.
[103] Section 47 of the SS Act provides:

“47. Redeployment

(1) If a Head of Agency considers a permanent employee employed in the Agency to be surplus to the requirements of the Agency, the Head of Agency is to – 

(a) advise the employee, in writing, of the Head of Agency’s intention to recommend to the Employer that the employee be made available for redeployment and the reasons for that intention; and

(b) request the employee to provide a response, within 14 days of being so advised, to the Head of Agency.

(2) At the expiration of the period of 14 days referred to in subsection (1), if the Head of Agency, after considering the employee’s response (if any), decides that the employee is surplus to the requirements of the Agency, the Head of Agency may recommend to the Employer that the employee be made available for redeployment…” [my emphasis]
[104] It is clear from this legislation that redeployment is not requested by an employee.  It occurs, after a decision has been taken by the Head of Agency in a redundancy type situation.  I do not accept that Mrs Gillies was in a redeployment situation.  The work of a Library Technician and Teacher Assistant at Goodwood (and most likely elsewhere) was still required to be done.  Mrs Gillies requested to be moved from Goodwood to another workplace within parameters set by her.  This cannot be construed as a request for redeployment.  I am satisfied that there has been a genuine inability to place Mrs Gillies permanently at Claremont College, due to that workplace being over the established number of administration hours.

[105] On the evidence before me and the findings made above, there is no evidentiary basis to the allegations of Mrs Gillies as to the behaviour of her co-workers.
Conclusion

[106] There is no power vested in the Commission to determine an industrial dispute as it relates to Mrs Gillies’ promotion to a permanent Band 3 or Band 4 position within the State Service.  I dismiss that part of Mrs Gillies’ application.
[107] Whilst I understand that Mrs Gillies feels aggrieved by the loss of what she understood to be her Library Technician role at Goodwood, she did not obtain the position at that time through a merit selection process in accordance with Employment Direction No. 1 (ED1) (then known as Commissioner’s Direction No. 1).  I note these duties were incorrectly allocated to Mrs Gillies through no fault of her own.
[108] Due to my findings, I decline to make any order or recommendations as they relate to the other remedies sought by Mrs Gillies.

[109] I am confident those employees within Human Resources of the Department of Education will take all actions necessary in their continued search for a substantive Band 2 classified administration position for Mrs Gillies, although considering the limited geographical and organisational parameters put forward by Mrs Gillies, it is likely to take some time for a substantive position to crystallise.

[110] I dismiss the remainder of the application.
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